# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 9/25/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON gton CLERK

Case #: 1034962

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_

No. 86117-4-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANGRI-LA LLC,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### EAGLE WEST INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Eliot M. Harris, WSBA #36590 Williams, Kastner & Gibbs, PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 628-6600 Email: eharris@williamskaster.com

Attorneys for Petitioner
Eagle West Insurance Company

##

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
IV.	V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	The Irregularity of Default Proceedings	6	
V.	ARGUMENT - REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED			
	A.	Mr. Gotchall's Letter Was an Appearance Under Morin		
	B.	The Default Judgment Violates the Federal Constitution and Federal Case Law	15	
	C.	The Default Judgment Was Irregular and Erroneous Procedurally – The Court of Appeals Decision to Reinstate the Unconstitutional Awards Contradicts Prior Court of Appeals Decisions	19	
	D.	Respondent Is Not Entitled to Fees as Awarded in the Trial Court – The Court of Appeals Decision to Reinstate the Unconstitutional Awards Contradicts Prior Court of Appeals Decisions	23	
	E.	The Court of Appeals Decision to Reinstate the Unconstitutional Awards Contradicts Prior Court of Appeals Decisions	30	
VI.	CO	NCLUSION	32	

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
STATE CASES
Baker v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 5 Wn. App. 2d 604, 621, 428 P.3d 155 (2018)
Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 312 P.3d 745 (2013)
Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 675 P.2d 193 (1983)24, 25, 26
Evans v. Firl, 25 Wn. App. 2d 534, 555, 523 P.3d 869 (2023), review denied, 532 P.3d 158 (Wash. 2023)
Eyman v. Ferguson, 7 Wash.App.2d 312 433 P.3d 863 (2019)
Fetzer v. Weeks, 122 Wn.2d 141, 859 P.2d 1210 (1993)24
Lenzi v. Redland Ins. Co., 140 Wn.2d 267, 996 P.2d 603 (2000)
Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998) 26
Marie's Blue Cheese Dressing, Inc. v. Andre's Better Foods, Inc., 68 Wn.2d 756, 415 P.2d 501 (1966)
Meade v. Nelson, 174 Wn. App. 740, 300 P.3d 828 (2013)

Page(s)
Miller v. Kenny, 180 Wn. App. 772, 325 P.3d 278 (2014)24
<i>Morin v. Burris</i> , 160 Wn.2d 749, 161 P.3d 956 (2007)passim
Peiffer v. Pro-Cut Concrete Cutting and Breaking, Inc.,         6 Wn. App. 2d 803, 834, 431 P.3d 1018 (2018)
Sacotte Const., Inc. v. Nat'l Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 143 Wn. App. 410, 117 P.3d 1147 (2008)
Shangri-La, LLC v. Eagle West Insurance Company, No. 86117-4-I, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2024) (unpublished), https://www.courts. wa.gov/opinions/pdf/861174.pdf
State v. Keller, 32 Wn. App. 135, 647 P.2d 35 (1982)20
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)30
FEDERAL CASES
BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1996)
MKB Constructors v. Am. Zurich Ins. Co., C13-0611JLR, 2015 WL 1188533 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 16, 2015), aff'd, 711 Fed. Appx. 834 (9th Cir. 2017) 16, 18
Pitera v. Asset Recovery Group Inc., 2:22-cv-00255-TL, 2022 WL 3701009 (W.D. Wash., Aug 29, 2022)

$\underline{\mathbf{Page}(\mathbf{s})}$				
Sims v. Midland Funding LLC, 2021 WL 1546135 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 20, 2021)				
State Farm Mut. Auto. Inc. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 123 S.Ct. 1513, 155 L.Ed.2d 585 (2003)				
Rules				
4 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice CR 55 (7th ed.)passim				
CR 60				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)				
RAP 13.4(b)(2)				
RAP 13.4(b)(3)				
RAP 13.4(b)(4)				
Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(a)				

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Eagle West Insurance Company ("Petitioner"), Respondent in Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals under Case No. 86117-4-I, and Defendant in the Superior Court of Snohomish County, Cause No. 22-2-01501-31.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Division I unpublished opinion in SHANGRI-LA LLC, a Washington limited liability company v. EAGLE WEST INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurance company, No. 86117-4-I, filed August 26, 2024 (attached hereto at Appendix A).

#### III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Whether the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court in *Morin v*. *Burris*, 160 Wn.2d 749, 161 P.3d 956 (2007) and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)?

- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, when unconstitutional attorney fees and punitive damages were reinstated by the Court of Appeals, and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3)?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with Court of Appeals precedent and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because it misinterprets the "irregularities and erroneous proceedings" shelters found under CR 55 and CR 60?
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion will have a precipitous effect of unconstitutional and unsubstantiated attorney fee awards and treble damages awards?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner appeared via letter after Respondent Shangri-La, LLC's Complaint was filed in Superior Court. Respondent was required to provide Petitioner with notice of its Motion for Default Judgment. Respondent did not. A default judgment was entered awarding unconstitutional attorney's fees and unconstitutional damages.

Respondent is the owner of an apartment building, and Petitioner is Respondent's property insurer. CP 218. Respondent filed an insurance claim with Petitioner in May 2021 regarding damage in the roof of the building. CP 219. Petitioner responded to the claim and retained an expert to investigate. *Id*.

Petitioner utilized reports from its own expert and Respondent's expert to determine denial of coverage. CP at 753. Petitioner explained that the roof condensation and rot was caused by faulty building design and faulty

workmanship, which were excluded perils in the insurance policy. CP at 753-4.

Petitioner sent the denial of coverage letter on August 26, 2021, which specifically requested that Respondent provide new information or additional information, with any explanation Respondent wished Petitioner to consider in reevaluation of the denial. CP at 757.

#### A. The Lawsuit

Respondent filed its lawsuit in Snohomish County Superior Court on March 17, 2022. See CP 534-36. The same day, counsel for Respondent sent Petitioner a letter of intent to assert an IFCA claim. See CP 547-49. The initial complaint was never sent to Petitioner, and the IFCA notice did not reference the existing lawsuit, nor contain any mention that Respondent had already filed suit against Petitioner. Here is the pertinent part of the one-paragraph text of the IFCA notice:

The purpose of this letter is to provide notice under RCW 48.30.015(8) that Shangri-La LLC intends to assert a cause of action against Eagle West under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act, RCW 48.30.015. The basis for the cause of action is: the property damage to Shangri-La LLC's building is covered under the above referenced policy.

CP 757. Petitioner's claim representative, Ken Gotchall, acknowledged receipt of the IFCA notice by return letter dated April 21, 2022. CP 551. In his response, Mr. Gotchall wrote as follows:

This letter will serve as confirmation of our receipt and acknowledgement of your letter of representation, regarding the above-captioned claim, that is dated March 17, 2022. Please send a copy of your letter of designation or authorization of representation with Mr. Hashim's signature.

Upon receipt, we will email you a certified copy of the applicable policy and endorsements along with any documents that you have request.

We would appreciate the opportunity to discuss this above captioned claim with you at your earliest convenience.

Please let me know if you have any questions or concerns regarding this matter.

CP 551. Respondent's counsel never responded to Mr. Gotchall's April 21, 2022 letter. Instead, Respondent filed an amended complaint on July 14, 2022, adding an IFCA cause of action, and served the summons and amended complaint upon the OIC. CP 221. Unfortunately, the OIC sent a copy of the documents to Petitioner's old address. *Id.* Notably, Respondent did not send a copy to Petitioner, as it had with the IFCA notice. CP at 54.

#### A. The Irregularity of Default Proceedings

Respondent was granted a default judgment on July 26, 2022. CP 54. The Commissioner did not conduct an independent evaluation to substantiate the amount of damages or attorney fees Respondent claimed, and instead simply signed off on Respondent's so-called "findings of fact," many of which were conclusory statements for which there was <u>no</u> evidentiary support. *See* CP 55, 63-7. Moreover, there is no indication in either the signed findings of fact and conclusions of law, or the transcript

from the default judgment hearing, that the Commissioner even considered the criteria for awarding punitive damages, let alone made the determination that the criteria were satisfied. *Id.* Here, in their entirety, are the court proceedings that took place for Respondent to seek, and the court to grant, the default judgment:

The Court: All right. Shangri-La vs. Eagle West Insurance.

Mr. Hayes: Good morning, Your Honor. Todd Hayes for Plaintiff. As I said, we're here on a motion for entry of a default judgment. It's unopposed so –

The Court: It's unopposed.

Mr. Hayes: -- I can argue if you want or you can ask questions.

The Court: If you want to make a record, that's fine. I have gone through these documents, so I understand what the request it, but it's up to you, Counsel. It's unopposed so...

Mr. Hayes: No, that's fine. I think the motion and the documents adequately support the motion.

The Court: I would agree with that. The Court is prepared to sign –

Mr. Hayes: Okay.

The Court: -- the proposed order as presented. And I appreciate all the work that went into that.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you.

The Court: And I do appreciate having all that information to help the Court ma——

Mr. Hayes: It can be kind of a –

The Court: -- endorse this decision.

Mr. Hayes: -- dense legal issue.

The Court: Yes. Quite surprised that they didn't respond, but...

Mr. Hayes: It's happened before.

The Court: Really?

Mr. Hayes: Yeah

The Court: Okay. Well, good luck, Counsel. I have

signed the order.

Mr. Hayes: Thank you, Your Honor.

And will you file it?

The Clerk: Mm-hmm.

Mr. Hayes: Okay, thank you.

(Conclusion of hearing)

See CP 163 - 170. Accordingly, the punitive damages award is not supported by evidence in the record, and does not

of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. *See* CP 55, 63-7. Lastly, the Commissioner mistakenly endorsed an exorbitant attorney fee award that was not supported by any testimony, and is not consistent with Washington case law guidelines. *See* CP 163 – 170, *see also* CP 69 - 74 and 255 - 263.

This table shows the monetary awards made by the court in the default judgment:

Element	Amount
Cost of Repairs:	\$1,928,349
Punitive Damages Enhancement:	\$3,856,698
40% Contingent Attorneys' Fee:	\$2,314,019
Total:	\$8,099,066

CP 224, *see also* CP 69 - 74 and 255 - 263. There was no evidence the cost to repair the property was actually \$1,928,349, as opposed to \$1,546,379, the amount of the "stipulated sum" contract signed by Respondent and its contactor. CP 63-4. There was no evidence to justify trebling Respondent's repair cost award pursuant to the

IFCA. CP 64-5. There was no evidence that the lodestar method was ever applied to obtain the awarded fee amount, as required by law. CP 66. It appears the attorney fees were calculated based solely on a contingency rate (40%) for the total recovery, plus an incomprehensible 3x multiplier stolen from IFCA. *Id*.

Respondent's counsel's work spanned from filing to a default judgment prior to obtaining the default judgment. CP 246. The "resulting cost of that work" at the rates that Respondent's primary fee expert endorsed is only \$43,896.50 for 104 hours of work, because that is the amount and cost of the work that is documented in the record. See CP 246, 267. However, the Commissioner inexplicably awarded \$2,314,019 for the time it took to file the case and file unopposed motions for default and judgment. See CP 69 - 74 and 255 - 263.

These errors forced Petitioner to file unsuccessful motions to vacate the default and judgment orders with the same Commissioner who imposed them. *See* CP 75-76.

Petitioner filed a motion to revise the Commissioner's Orders. *See* CP 53-68. On December 19, 2023, trial court Judge Weiss properly granted the motion. *See* CP 8-9. Judge Weiss ruled Mr. Gotchall's letter constituted an informal appearance under Washington law, and Petitioner was entitled to notice of the default and judgment proceedings. CP 9. Respondents prevailed on appeal, and Petitioner seeks review of the errors of the lower courts.

#### V. ARGUMENT - REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

#### A. Mr. Gotchall's Letter Was an Appearance Under Morin

Mr. Gotchall's letter does satisfy the substantial requirement notice doctrine under *Morin*. The substantial compliance doctrine looks to the defendant's conduct after litigation was commenced in order to determine whether the plaintiff was apprised of the defendant's intent to litigate the

case. Morin, 160 Wn.2d at 755. Washington Courts have found informal notice of appearance from just a single communication from the defendant after litigation had commenced. Pitera v. Asset Recovery Group Inc., 2:22-cv-00255-TL, 2022 WL 3701009 at \*3 (W.D. Wash., Aug 29, 2022) (citing Sims v. Midland Funding LLC, 2021 WL 1546135, at \*3 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 20, 2021)); Sacotte Const., Inc. v. Nat'l Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 143 Wn. App. 410, 416, 117 P.3d 1147 (2008) (concluding an appearance was made when defense counsel made a single post-litigation phone call followed up by an email to plaintiff's counsel). In *Meade*, the Court held that postlitigation contact constituted a sufficient appearance when defendant's attorney responded to a settlement offer and discussed potential evidentiary issues. *Meade v. Nelson*, 174 Wn. App. 740, 300 P.3d 828 (2013).

Here, Mr. Gotchall had knowledge the claim was headed to court – Respondent sent him an IFCA notice of filing.

Mr. Gotchall responded to the IFCA notice with evidence of his

intent to defend against Respondent's claims, including the IFCA claims. He did turn a blind eye to the issues presented, as did two of the defendants scrutinized in *Morin*.

The Court of Appeals evaluated the three cases comprising the *Morin* opinion – *Morin*, *Matia Investment Fund, Inc. v. City of Tacoma*, and *Gutz v. Johnson*.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals agreed that neither of the defendants in *Morin* or *Matia* showed any intent to defend or even respond to the respective plaintiffs.<sup>2</sup> There was no intent by either defendant to defend either claim.

In the third case, *Gutz*, this Court remanded it for analysis of whether plaintiff's counsel potentially used inequitable methods to conceal litigation – this Court never addressed the *Gutz* claim adjuster's response regarding her <u>intent to defend</u> the claim.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix A: *Shangri-La, LLC v. Eagle West Insurance Company*, No. 86117-4-I, slip op. at 9 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2024) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/861174.pdf

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Id

Here, Petitioner's letter to Respondent's counsel, approximately one month after suit was filed, constituted an informal notice of appearance – it evidenced Petitioner's <u>intent</u> and desire to actively engage in defending the claim via discussion of the claim and exchange of documents. Petitioner was never notified of or served with Respondent's initial Complaint. In this letter, Petitioner specifically asked to speak with Respondent's counsel about this case. It was clear Petitioner was not ignoring Respondent's counsel, but rather wanted to defend the claim and explore "the opportunity" of resolution.

The Court of Appeals focuses on Mr. Gotchall's letter not showing "an intent to defend against a lawsuit in court." This is incorrect, and misapplies the underlying principle (intent of a defendant) of *Morin*, which is the defendant's

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appendix A: *Shangri-La, LLC v. Eagle West Insurance Company*, No. 86117-4-I, slip op. at 12 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2024) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/861174.pdf

conduct in order to determine whether a plaintiff was apprised of the defendant's intent to litigate the case. *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d at 755. Here, Petitioner invited a conference and an exchange of documents to defend the case, which satisfies *Morin*. Washington courts do "not exalt[] form over substance." *Pitera*, 2022 Wl. 3701009 at \*3 (*quoting Morin*, 161 P.3d at 964). Mr. Gotchall acknowledged that a dispute over the claim existed, and the evidence shows he intended to defend the claim when he informally appeared on behalf of Petitioner by responding to the IFCA notice (a lawsuit to be filed in court), requesting claim discussion, and offered an exchange of documents to defend against the same.

# B. The Default Judgment Violates the Federal Constitution and Federal Case Law

The Court of Appeals erred when it reversed the order vacating the default order and judgment and remanded for the superior court to reinstate the default judgment against

Petitioner,<sup>4</sup> because (1) the Commissioner did not follow the requirements of CR 55(b)(2), and therefore the default judgment on damages was not properly entered, (2) the Commissioner did not apply the factors articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court to ensure that a punitive damages award does not violate the U.S. Constitution, and (3) the Commissioner did not have sufficient evidence or follow Washington law to award the fees requested.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution prohibits states from "imposing a grossly excessive punishment on a tortfeasor." *BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 562, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 1592, 134 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1996) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). When punitive damages awarded under state law are determined to be "excessive" based on the standards articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court, the damages are unconstitutional. *MKB* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appendix A: *Shangri-La, LLC v. Eagle West Insurance Company*, No. 86117-4-I, slip op. at 17 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2024) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/861174.pdf

Constructors v. Am. Zurich Ins. Co., C13-0611JLR, 2015 WL 1188533, at \*24 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 16, 2015), aff'd, 711 Fed. Appx. 834 (9th Cir. 2017) ("To comport with due process under the Constitution, state-law punitive damages awards are subject to review for excessiveness.") (citing BMW v. Gore).

In *State Farm Mut. Auto. Inc. Co. v. Campbell*, 538 U.S. 408, 123 S.Ct. 1513, 155 L.Ed.2d 585 (2003), the U.S. Supreme Court articulated the criteria that courts should apply in determining whether a punitive damages award violates the Due Process Clause. 538 U.S. 408, 418, 123 S.Ct. 1513, 155 L.Ed.2d 585 (2003). Those criteria are "(1) the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant's misconduct; (2) the disparity between the actual or potential harm suffered by the plaintiff and the punitive damages award; and (3) the difference between the punitive damages awarded by the jury and the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases." *Id.* The most important factor is the "reprehensibility of the defendant's conduct." *Id.* at 419.

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