FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/25/2024 2:39 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1034962

**SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

SHANGRI-LA LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

EAGLE WEST INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurance
company,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Todd C. Hayes, WSBA No. 26361
HARPER | HAYES PLLC
1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1208
Seattle, Washington 98101
Telephone: (206) 340-8010

Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny Eagle West’s petition for review because the Court of Appeals’ unpublished decision is consistent with *Morin* and with published Court of Appeals decisions. Moreover, the decision does not violate (or even implicate) the Constitution, and it does not concern an issue of substantial public interest.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH *MORIN*

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is unwarranted because the Court of Appeals decision followed—and is entirely consistent with—this Court’s decision in *Morin*. This Court held in *Morin* that to “substantially comply with the appearance requirements,” a defendant “must go beyond merely acknowledging that a *dispute* exists and instead acknowledge that a dispute exists **in court.**” *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d at 756 (bold-underline added). The Court further held that “[t]hose who are served with a summons must do more than show intent to defend; they must in some way

appear and acknowledge the jurisdiction of the court.” *Id.* at 749 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the letter from Mr. Gotchall—which was written before he even knew about a lawsuit—did not satisfy *Morin* because it did not acknowledge the jurisdiction of a court or acknowledge that a dispute existed *in court*:

The *Morin* court explicitly rejected the informal appearance doctrine applied by previous case law, such as *Gage v. Boeing Co.*, 55 Wn. App. 157, 160, 776 P.2d 991 (1989). *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d at 756, 760. In applying CR 55 and CR 60 liberally, the Washington Supreme Court has nevertheless required defendants seeking to set aside a default judgment to be prepared to establish that they actually appeared or substantially complied with the appearance requirements and were thus entitled to notice. *Id.* at 755. Thus, the mere intent to defend, whether shown before or after a case is filed is not enough; the defendant must go beyond merely acknowledging that a dispute exists and instead acknowledge that a dispute exists in court. . . .

. . . .

Gotchall’s April 21, 2022 letter failed to comply with the requirements of *Morin* Gotchall’s letter acknowledged Shangri-La’s March 17, 2022 letter “regarding the above-captioned claim,” referring only to Shangri-La’s

insurance claim. Gotchall's letter made no acknowledgement of the jurisdiction of the court or the existence of the matter in court. . . . Gotchall's letter did not show an intent to defend against a lawsuit in court, but acknowledged no more than that Shangri-La's counsel had indicated they represented Shangri-La.

Slip op. at 10-12. The Court of Appeals' holding could not be more consistent with *Morin*—it quotes *Morin*'s holdings and then applies them.

Eagle West nevertheless contends that the Gotchall letter satisfies *Morin* because it acknowledged that the parties had a dispute over Shangri-La's insurance *claim*. See *Petition for Review* at 15 (“Mr. Gotchall acknowledged that a dispute over the *claim* existed, and the evidence shows he intended to defend the *claim*”) (emphasis added). But that contradicts the whole point of *Morin*—that a defendant must do more than acknowledge a dispute; a defendant must acknowledge that a dispute exists *in court*: “[T]he defendant must go beyond merely acknowledging that a *dispute* exists and instead acknowledge

that a dispute exists *in court*.” *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d at 756 (emphasis in original).

One of the cases that *Morin* reversed—*Matia Inv. Fund, Inc. v. City of Tacoma*, 129 Wn. App. 541, 119 P.3d 391 (2005), *rev’d sub nom. Morin*, 160 Wn.2d 745—is particularly instructive. The plaintiff in that case (Matia) submitted a claim to the defendant (the City of Tacoma). The City responded to the claim letter, but not to Matia’s subsequent lawsuit. Matia obtained a default judgment, which the City then moved to vacate. The City argued that its letter responding to Matia’s *claim* constituted an appearance in the lawsuit. Although the Court of Appeals agreed, this Court reversed on that very issue. *See Matia*, 129 Wn. App. at 545 (holding acknowledgement by City of *claim* constituted “informal appearance” in lawsuit); *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d 758 (“We find no action in either case [*Matia* or *Morin*] acknowledging that the disputes were *in court*.”) (emphasis added).

Here, as in *Matia*, the Gotchall letter at most communicated a desire to discuss Shangri-La's *claim*. But because the letter did not communicate an intent to defend Shangri-La's *lawsuit*, it did not satisfy *Morin*. Thus, Eagle West did not "substantially comply with the appearance rules," *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d at 757, and Eagle West was therefore not entitled to notice of the default proceedings. *See* CR 55(a)(3) ("Any party who has not appeared . . . is not entitled to a notice of the motion . . ."). The Court of Appeals decision is wholly consistent with *Morin*.

**B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
DOES NOT CONTRADICT PRIOR COURT
OF APPEALS DECISIONS**

In sections C and D of its argument, Eagle West complains about the amount of the judgment and how Commissioner Harness entered it, but fails to explain how any part of *the Court of Appeals decision* contradicts any other Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Rather, Eagle West just claims that the evidence was insufficient to support the damages and

attorney fee awards, and that Commissioner Harness merely “rubber-stamped” Shangri-La’s findings and conclusions.

First, “sufficiency of the evidence” is not a basis to vacate a judgment—because it is not a matter “extraneous to the action”:

Civil Rule 60(b) does not authorize vacation of judgments except for reasons extraneous to the action of the court or for matters affecting the regularity of the proceedings. Errors of law are not correctable through CR 60(b); rather, direct appeal is the proper means of remedying legal errors. Here, *insufficiency of the evidence is not an error that is extraneous to the action or affects the regularity of the proceedings.*

Burlingame v. Consol. Mines & Smelting Co., Ltd., 106 Wn.2d 328, 335-36, 722 P.2d 67 (1986) (emphasis added). In other words, even if Commissioner Harness made a mistake—by, for example, awarding too much in damages or too much in attorney fees—then that error could be corrected only by Eagle West appealing from the judgment, not through a motion to vacate:

The power to vacate judgments, on motion, is confined to cases in which the ground alleged is something extraneous to the action of the court or goes only to the question of the regularity of its proceedings. *It is not intended to be used as a*

means for the court to review or revise its own final judgments, or to correct any errors of law into which it may have fallen. *That a judgment is erroneous* as a matter of law is ground for an appeal, writ of error, or certiorari, according to the case, but it *is no ground for setting aside the judgment on motion*.

Kern v. Kern, 28 Wn.2d 617, 619, 183 P.2d 811 (1947) (*quoting* 1 Black on Judgments (2d ed.) § 329) (emphasis added); *see also Port of Port Angeles v. CMC Real Estate Corp.*, 114 Wn.2d 670, 673, 790 P.2d 145 (1990) (“[A]n error of law will not support vacation of a judgment.”).

Moreover, even if awarding too much in damages did amount to a failure to comply with CR 55, which it does not, that would be remediable only under CR 60(b)(1). *See* CR 60(b)(1) (affording relief for “irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order”). A motion under CR 60(b)(1) would have been time-barred—which is why Eagle West did not move under CR 60(b)(1). *See* CR 60(b) (motions “for reasons (1), (2) or (3)” must be brought “not more than 1 year after the judgment . . . was entered”). Moreover, because an alleged

failure to comply with CR 55 falls under CR 60(b)(1), it cannot fall under CR 60(b)(11). *See State v. Ward*, 125 Wn. App. 374, 379, 104 P.3d 751 (2005) (“A defendant can only move to vacate judgment under CR 60(b)(11) when his circumstances do not permit moving under another subsection of CR 60(b).”); *see also Friebe v. Supancheck*, 98 Wn. App. 260, 267, 992 P.2d 1014 (1999) (“CR 60(b)(11) cannot be used to circumvent the one-year time limit applicable to CR 60(b)(1).”).

Finally, Eagle West’s arguments are baseless anyway:

- The record contains no evidence that Commissioner Harness “rubber-stamped” anything. To the contrary, she said she reviewed the default judgment motion “very, very carefully.” RP 32.
- The \$1,928,349 damages figure is supported by substantial evidence—it is exactly what Shangri-La’s construction expert testified the repairs would cost. *See* CP 278 (explaining “roof repair work will cost a total of \$1,928,349”).

- Commissioner Harness correctly awarded enhanced damages under IFCA because she found that Eagle West “unreasonably” denied Shangri-La’s claim. CP 262; *see also* RCW 48.30.015(2) (treble damages awardable “after finding that an insurer has acted unreasonably in denying a claim for coverage”).

- The findings establish the “lodestar” calculation, and the conclusions show that Commissioner Harness exercised her discretion to adjust the fee award upward to reflect Shangri-La’s contingent fee obligation. *See* CP 260; 262; *see also Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington*, 54 Wn. App. 180, 183, 773 P.2d 114 (1989) (“[T]rial courts have broad discretion to fix reasonable fee awards.”); *Allard v. First Interstate Bank of Washington, N.A.*, 112 Wn.2d 145, 150, 768 P.2d 998 (1989) (“[T]he trial court also acted reasonably when it considered the contingent fee agreement between plaintiffs and their attorney in making its award.”); *Bowers*

v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 598, 675 P.2d 193 (1983) (“After the lodestar has been calculated, the court may consider the necessity of adjusting it to reflect . . . the contingent nature of success, and the quality of work performed.”).⁵

In short, sufficiency of the evidence is not something that Eagle West could challenge through a motion to vacate, and the evidence fully supports the amount of the judgment regardless. More importantly, Eagle West has not identified any way in which the Court of Appeals decision reinstating the judgment conflicts with any Court of Appeals decision.⁶

⁵ Thus, the Court of Appeals’ decision to reinstate Commissioner Harness’s “discretionary” award does not contradict *Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. 772, 825, 325 P.3d 278 (2014), *Baker v. Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co.*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 604, 621, 428 P.3d 155 (2018), or *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 177 Wn. App. 644, 657, 312 P.3d 745 (2013).

⁶ Eagle West mentions *Evans v. Firl*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 534, 523 P.3d 869, *review denied*, 1 Wn.3d 1018 (2023), but fails to explain how it conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. The *Evans* court vacated part of a default judgment under CR 60(b)(1) because the defendant had a meritorious defense. *See Evans*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 544. Eagle West did

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE CONSTITUTION

Eagle West argues that this Court should accept review (apparently under RAP 13.4(b)(3)) because Shangri-La's default judgment supposedly "violates the Federal Constitution and federal case law." *Petition* at 15.⁷ The Court should first reject this argument because the Court of Appeals decision does not even mention the Constitution. That is presumably because no one briefed in the Court of Appeals the constitutional issue that Eagle West now raises. Although Eagle West *referenced* the Constitution in its Court of Appeals brief, Eagle West did not cite any cases that discuss the Constitution, and it did not analyze any constitutional issues. *See Respondent's Brief* at 13. So the Court

not move under CR 60 (b)(1) (because such a motion was time-barred), and "meritorious defense" is not an issue under any other subsection of CR 60(b). *See Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 370, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989) (citing "CR 60(b)(1), which provides relief *where the defaulting party can show a defense on the merits*") (emphasis added).

⁷ Eagle West does not explain how a conflict with "federal case law" would warrant review under RAP 13.4(b).

of Appeals understandably declined to address any constitutional issues. *See Meyer v. Univ. of Washington*, 105 Wn.2d 847, 855, 719 P.2d 98 (1986) (“After the initial mentions of these constitutional provisions, nothing more is discussed or analyzed. No further review will come from us.”); *Patterson v. Superintendent of Pub. Instruction*, 76 Wn. App. 666, 675-76, 887 P.2d 411 (1994) (“Constitutional arguments should not be addressed when they have not been adequately briefed.”).

Because the Court of Appeals decision does not address any constitutional issues, this Court should not address them either:

In reviewing a decision of the Court of Appeals, we are generally limited to questions presented before and determined by that court and to claims of error directed to that court’s resolution of such issues.

. . . .

Accordingly, we do not review the constitutional issues and theories raised by the [Petitioners] here.

Peoples Nat. Bank of Washington v. Peterson, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973); *see also Dahl-Smyth, Inc. v. City of Walla Walla*, 148 Wn.2d 835, 839 n.5, 64 P.3d 15 (2003) (“DSI

argues a constitutional taking claim in its petition to this court. We do not address the issue here because this court is generally limited to issues presented to and decided by the Court of Appeals when reviewing decisions of that court.”) (citation omitted); *State v. Clark*, 124 Wn.2d 90, 105, 875 P.2d 613 (1994), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Catlett*, 133 Wn.2d 355, 945 P.2d 700 (1997) (“By declining review of issues not raised before a lower appellate court, we . . . encourage parties to raise issues before the Court of Appeals . . .”).

This Court should also deny review because Eagle West’s constitutional arguments are baseless. The *Campbell* line of cases applies only to “punitive damages.” *See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell*, 538 U.S. 408, 412, 123 S. Ct. 1513, 155 L. Ed. 2d 585 (2003) (“We address once again the measure of punishment, by means of *punitive damages*, a State may impose upon a defendant in a civil case.”) (emphasis added). Enhanced damages under IFCA are not “punitive”; their purpose is to protect policyholders:

[T]he fact that the trebling was not mandatory but, rather, at the trial court’s discretion . . . suggests that punishment was not the primary purpose of the legislation. And the inclusion of a notice and cure period that offered the insurer an opportunity to correct any unreasonable behavior before being hauled into court also suggests that ***the intent of the legislation was to protect the insured rather than punish the insurer.***

Beasley v. GEICO Gen. Ins. Co., 23 Wn. App. 2d 641, 664-65, 517 P.3d 500 (2022) (citation omitted, emphasis added); *see also Segar v. Allstate Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, C21-1526-JLR, 2022 WL 102035, at *4 n.8 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 11, 2022) (“[T]reble damages [under IFCA] are not punitive damages . . .”). And even if enhanced IFCA damages were “punitive,” the statute’s “three times”⁸ limitation ensures that they satisfy due process. *See BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 568, 116 S. Ct.

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